DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA DOCKET NO. 19-0005

NICHOLAS VARLAS

Petitioner

V.

Appeal from Sentencing Order of the Circuit Court of Brooke County (13-F-63)

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA

Respondent

PETITIONER'S BRIEF



Counsel for Petitioner, Nicholas Varlas

Carl A. Frankovitch, Esq. (WV Bar #12150)
Counsel of Record
M. Eric Frankovitch, Esq. (WV Bar # 4747)
FRANKOVITCH, ANETAKIS, SIMON, DECAPIO & PEARL, LLP
337 Penco Road
Weirton, WV 26062
(304) 723-4400
cfrankovitch@faslaw.com

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

AS A MATTER OF LAW, THE TRIAL COURT ERRED AND DENIED PETITIONER DUE PROCESS IN SENTENCING HIM TO TEN (10) TO TWENTY-FIVE (25) YEARS OF INCARCERATION BECAUSE IT IS A HARSHER PENALTY THAN HIS ORIGINAL SENTENCE OF FIVE (5) YEARS' PROBATION.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 12, 2012, Petitioner, Nicholas Varlas, held a small social gathering at his home in Follansbee, West Virginia, which was attended by N.S. (A.R. 60-61). At one point during the evening, N.S. went alone with Petitioner to watch a pornographic movie. (A.R. 83-100; 263-66). While watching the pornographic movie, they began to kiss each other, which culminated with sexual intercourse. *Id.* The following day, after receiving a barrage of text messages from her boyfriend pressuring her to report the sexual encounter as rape and threatening to leave her if she did not, N.S. reported the incident to the police alleging that the sexual intercourse was nonconsensual. (A.R. 110-12; 408-11). Petitioner has maintained throughout these proceedings that the intercourse was completely consensual.

Petitioner was subsequently indicted on one count of "Sexual Assault in the Second Degree" (W.Va. Code § 61-8B-4) and one count of "Attempt to Commit Sexual Abuse in the First Degree" (W.Va. Code § 61-11-8(2) and W.Va. Code § 61-8B-7). (A.R. 13-15). Following a trial on September 3-4, 2014, before the Circuit Court of Brooke County, the jury returned a guilty verdict on both counts of the Indictment. (A.R. 309).

On December 18, 2014, the Circuit Court entered a Sentencing Order (the "Original Sentencing Order") that sentenced Petitioner to not less than one (1) nor more than three (3) years for "Attempt to Commit Sexual Abuse in the First Degree" and not less than ten (10) nor more

Alleged victim referred to by initials pursuant to W.Va. Rules of Appellate Procedure 40(e)(1).

than twenty-five (25) years for "Sexual Assault in the Second Degree." (A.R. 394-99). The Original Sentencing Order suspended the ten (10) to twenty-five (25) years of incarceration in lieu of a five (5) year period of probation to begin upon Petitioner being paroled or completing his sentence of one (1) to three (3) years. (A.R. 398). Petitioner was further required to register as a sexual offender for life and complete ten (10) years of extended sexual offender supervision following his completion of the five-year period of probation. *Id*.

Petitioner appealed the conviction, arguing that the Circuit Court violated Petitioner's constitutional right to a fair trial by barring him from introducing the text messages from N.S.'s boyfriend into evidence at trial based upon West Virginia's rape shield law. (A.R. 418). Petitioner also contended that the Circuit Court erred in admitting the investigating officer's hearsay testimony. *Id.*

This Court agreed with Petitioner and found that the Circuit Court abused its discretion in excluding the text messages under the rape shield law. (A.R. 407); *State v. Varlas*, 237 W.Va. 399, 401-08, 787 S.E.2d 670, 672-79 (2016). This Court recognized that evidence of N.S.'s credibility and motive to fabricate the charges was "critical to [Petitioner's] defense," especially since the convictions were predominantly dependent on the uncorroborated testimony of N.S. (A.R. 423) (citing *State v. Jonathan B.*, 230 W. Va. 229, 240, 737 S.E.2d 257, 268 (2012)). As a result, this Court found that the "exclusion of the subject text messages placed the underlying fairness of the entire trial in doubt...." (A.R. 422-23), 237 W. Va. at 408, 787 S.E.2d at 679. Accordingly, on June 16, 2016, the convictions were reversed, and this case was remanded for a new trial in which Petitioner could introduce the previously excluded evidence. (A.R. 407); 237 W. Va. at 409, 787 S.E.2d at 680.

Prior to the reversal of his conviction, Petitioner completed his entire sentence of incarceration for "Attempt to Commit Sexual Abuse in the First Degree" and began his five (5) year period of probation for his conviction of "Sexual Assault in the Second Degree." (A.R. 610). His probation was discontinued following the reversal of his conviction on June 16, 2016. *Id.*

The State retried Petitioner in May 2018. The retrial ended in a mistrial due to the prosecution's introduction of improper and unfairly prejudicial testimony. *Id*.

On October 1, 2018, Petitioner was tried again on the original charges of "Sexual Assault in the Second Degree" and "Attempt to Commit Sexual Abuse in the First Degree" and on October 3, 2018, was found guilty by a jury on both counts. (A.R. 611).

Following a sentencing hearing held on December 3, 2018, the Circuit Court entered a "Sentencing Order" dated December 4, 2018 (the "Second Sentencing Order"). (A.R. 607-15). In the Second Sentencing Order the Circuit Court acknowledged that it could not impose a harsher sentence on Petitioner than he received prior to his successful appeal, because such a sentence would violate due process as recognized by this Court in *State v. Eden*, 163 W. Va. 370, 256 S.E.2d 868 (1979). (A.R. 612). Notwithstanding its recognition of the appropriate standard, the Circuit Court failed to apply it and concluded that a sentence of ten (10) to twenty-five (25) years of incarceration was not a harsher sentence than a sentence of five (5) years' probation in lieu of incarceration. (A.R. 613).

Consequently, for his conviction of "Sexual Assault in the Second Degree," the Circuit Court sentenced Petitioner to ten (10) to twenty-five (25) years of incarceration, without suspending the same for five (5) years of probation as Petitioner was originally sentenced. (A.R. 614-15). For the conviction of "Attempt to Commit Sexual Abuse in the First Degree," Petitioner was sentenced to one (1) to three (3) years of incarceration, to run concurrently, and given credit

for time served, thereby discharging that sentence. *Id.* Petitioner was required to register as a sexual offender for life and complete ten years of extended sexual offender supervision following his incarceration. *Id.* The Court denied Petitioner bond pending this appeal and is currently serving a sentence of ten (10) to twenty-five (25) years of incarceration in the West Virginia Northern Regional Correctional Facility. (A.R. 604-05). It is from this sentence that Petitioner now appeals.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Second Sentencing Order violated Petitioner's right to due process and should be overturned. In sentencing Petitioner for his reconviction following his successful appeal, the Circuit Court imposed a much harsher penalty on Petitioner than he received for his initial conviction by requiring him to serve ten (10) to twenty-five (25) years of incarceration rather than five (5) years' probation as he was initially sentenced. Unquestionably, the Circuit Court violated Petitioner's constitutional right to due process.

In West Virginia, the imposition of an increased penalty following a reconviction after the successful prosecution of an appeal violates due process and "the original sentence must act as a ceiling above which no additional penalty is permitted." *State v. Eden*, 163 W. Va. 370, 382–83, 256 S.E.2d 868, 875 (1979). In *Eden*, this Court recognized that increased sentencing results in an impermissible burden on a defendant's constitutional right to an appeal because it deters individuals from challenging invalid convictions. *Id.* This Court explained that "when a defendant refuses to prosecute an appeal to which he is entitled by law for fear he will receive a heavier sentence on retrial, he has been denied his right to appeal" and such conviction is rendered void. *Id.* Accordingly, this Court proclaimed a "blanket prohibition" on imposing increased penalties for a reconviction following a successful appeal. *Id.* 163 W.Va. at 380, 256 S.E.2d at 874 (citing *Patton v. State of N.C.*, 381 F.2d 636, 641 (4th Cir. 1967)).

In the case at bar, the Circuit Court expressly held that *Eden* mandated that Petitioner could not receive a harsher sentence than he received following his initial conviction. (A.R. 612). Nonetheless, the Circuit Court, misguided by inapplicable caselaw, found that the probation that Petitioner received in lieu of incarceration in the Original Sentencing Order was not part of Petitioner's sentence. (A.R. 613). In so finding, the Circuit Court violated Petitioner's constitutional right to due process because had Petitioner known that the Circuit Court would attempt to sentence him to ten (10) to twenty-five (25) years of incarceration instead of the five (5) years' probation that he initially received, he would have been deterred from, and in all likelihood decided against, appealing his initial conviction following the first trial in which his due process rights were in fact violated. *See Varlas*, 237 W.Va. at 408, 787 S.E.2d 679.

The fundamental standard of procedural fairness guaranteed by the West Virginia Constitution forbids placing limitations on Petitioner's right to a fair trial by requiring him to barter his freedom for the opportunity of exercising his constitutional rights. *Eden*, 163 W. Va. at 379 n. 8, 256 S.E.2d at 873 n. 8; *see also State v. Bonham*, 173 W. Va. 416, 419, 317 S.E.2d 501, 504 (1984). Petitioner was denied his constitutional right to due process, and therefore, this Court should reverse the Second Sentencing Order.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

This appeal presents a constitutional question of law that carries serious consequences for Petitioner and all future criminal defendants presented with the decision of whether to appeal a guilty verdict resulting from an unfair or prejudicial trial. Although the principal issue in this case has been authoritatively decided by this Court's decision in *State v. Eden*, 163 W. Va. 370, 256 S.E.2d 868 (1979), Petitioner submits that oral argument will significantly aid the decisional process.

This case is especially appropriate for oral argument under Rule 20 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure as it involves the constitutionality of the Circuit Court's ruling and is a matter of fundamental public importance.

This matter is also appropriate for oral argument pursuant to Rule 19 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure in that it involves the assignment of error in the application of a narrow issue of settled law.

ARGUMENT

AS A MATTER OF LAW, THE TRIAL COURT ERRED AND DENIED PETITIONER DUE PROCESS IN SENTENCING HIM TO TEN (10) TO TWENTY-FIVE (25) YEARS OF INCARCERATION BECAUSE IT IS A HARSHER PENALTY THAN HIS ORIGINAL SENTENCE OF FIVE (5) YEARS' PROBATION.

Standard of Review

The Supreme Court of Appeals accords plenary review to questions of law. In re Petition of Carter, 220 W. Va. 33, 35, 640 S.E.2d 96, 98 (2006). Where the issue on an appeal from the circuit court is a question of law this Court applies a de novo standard of review. State v. Finley, 219 W. Va. 747, 748, 639 S.E.2d 839, 840 (2006)(citing Syl. Pt. 1, Chrystal R.M. v. Charlie A.L., 194 W.Va. 138, 459 S.E.2d 415 (1995).

While sentencing orders are generally reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard, in cases involving questions of whether the circuit court's sentencing order violates constitutional commands, the Court applies a *de novo* standard. *State v. Georgius*, 225 W. Va. 716, 719, 696 S.E.2d 18, 21 (2010)(*citing* Syl. Pt. 1, *State v. Lucas*, 201 W.Va. 271, 496 S.E.2d 221 (1997)).

This case is on appeal from a sentencing order of the circuit court and clearly involves a question of law – specifically, whether Petitioner's constitutional right to due process has been violated. Accordingly, the question of constitutional law presented herein is subject to a *de novo* review. *Id*.

Argument

A. PETITIONER WAS DENIED DUE PROCESS WHEN HE WAS RESENTENCED TO A HEAVIER PENALTY THAN HIS ORIGINAL SENTENCE FOLLOWING HIS SUCCESSFUL APPEAL.

Our government is "a government of laws, and not of men." The principle of the "rule of law" dictates that all persons and institutions are bound by and accountable under those laws that are clear, publicized, certain and just and are duly enacted, administered and enforced in a fair and nonprejudicial manner. See Youngstown Sheet & Tube Co. v. Sawyer, 343 U.S. 579, 646, 72 S. Ct. 863, 875, 96 L. Ed. 1153 (1952)("[O]urs is a government of laws, not of men, and [] we submit ourselves to rulers only if under rules.")

It is the rule of law that the Due Process clause of United States and West Virginia Constitutions seek to promote and protect. Due process consists of procedural protections to guarantee that the government will not make arbitrary decisions affecting an individual's fundamental rights, but will only do so through the reasoned application of the rule of law. Due

² John Adams, Novanglus; Or, A History Of The Dispute With America From Its Origin, In 1754, To The Present Time, 1775.

process is therefore the constitutional regulator of overreaching official power which must be guarded by a judiciary that is "unbiased, neutral between the parties, free of passion, prejudice and arbitrariness, loyal to the law alone."

One of the most basic and primary tenets of due process is a fair trial. Caperton v. A.T. Massey Coal Co., 556 U.S. 868, 876, 129 S. Ct. 2252, 2259, 173 L. Ed. 2d 1208 (2009). A fair trial requires that justice be administered in criminal proceedings that are orderly, impartial, and just. A fair trial necessitates that the accused be afforded, inter alia, the opportunity to present relevant evidence critical to his defense.

In furtherance of this dedication to the rule of law, West Virginia has imbedded in its Constitution the absolute right to apply for an appeal of a decision resulting from a trial in which the principles of a fair trial have been violated. *Eden*, 163 W. Va. at 381–82 n. 14, 256 S.E.2d at 875 n. 14. (citing W.Va. Const. art. 3, § 10). The constitutional right to an appeal cannot be abridged or deterred without offending due process and rendering the conviction void. *Id.* It is this procedural protection of the West Virginia Constitution that requires that the Second Sentencing Order be reversed.

Due process in West Virginia prohibits the imposition of a heavier penalty than the original sentence upon reconviction following a successful appeal.

The Second Sentencing Order is unconstitutional and must be reversed. Due process in West Virginia prevents the constitutional right to appeal from being impaired by imposing on a defendant who demonstrates the error of his conviction the risk that he may be penalized with a harsher sentence for having done so. *Eden*, 163 W. Va. at 382–83, 256 S.E.2d at 875. The risk of

8

³ Brian Z. Tamanaha, On the Rule of Law 123 (2004).

increased punishment upon reconviction "inherently gives rise to a fear of harsher penalties and retribution which burdens or chills the defendant's right to appeal and should not be permitted in any circumstances." *Id.* Therefore, in resentencing a defendant following a retrial "the original sentence must act as a ceiling above which no additional penalty is permitted." *Id.* 163 W.Va. at 384, 256 S.E.2d at 876. The failure to adhere to this procedural protection afforded by the West Virginia Constitution in resentencing a reconvicted defendant violates the defendant's constitutional right to due process. *Id.* at Syl. Pt. 2.

In Eden, the defendant was initially fined fifty dollars by a justice of the peace for reckless driving. 163 W.Va. at 371-72, 256 S.E.2d at 870-71. Subsequently, he chose to have a trial de novo in the circuit court. Id. In the circuit court he was again convicted of reckless driving, fined two hundred dollars, and sentenced to thirty days in jail. Id. The Eden Court reversed the conviction and held that a defendant who is convicted of an offense and exercises his statutory right to obtain a trial de novo in the circuit court is denied due process when, upon conviction at his second trial, the sentencing judge imposes a "heavier penalty" than the original sentence. Id. at Syl. Pt. 2 (citing W.Va. Const. art. 3, § 10)(emphasis added); Bonham, 173 W. Va. at 417, 317 S.E.2d at 502-03.

In *Eden*, this Court explained that "when a defendant refuses to prosecute an appeal to which he is entitled by law for fear he will receive a heavier sentence on retrial, he has been denied his right to appeal." 163 W.Va. at 382, 256 S.E.2d at 875. Accordingly, the *Eden* Court proclaimed a "blanket prohibition" on imposing increased penalties for a reconviction following a successful appeal. 163 W. Va. at 380, 256 S.E.2d at 874 (citing *Patton*, 381 F.2d at 641).

In State v. Bonham, this Court incorporated the following rationale behind the due process bar against imposition of a higher penalty:

We believe if a more severe sentence may be imposed after retrial for any reason, there will always be a definite apprehension on the part of the accused that a heavier sentence may be imposed. Such apprehension or fear would place the defendant in an 'incredible dilemma' in considering whether to appeal the conviction. A 'desperate' choice exists, and may very well deter a defendant from exercising the right to assert his innocence and request a retrial. Such deterrence violates the due process clause of the...Constitution. The fundamental standard of procedural fairness, which is the basic due process right claimed in this case, forbids placing a limitation on the defendant's right to a fair trial by requiring a defendant to barter with freedom for the opportunity of exercising it.

Bonham, 173 W. Va. at 418–19, 317 S.E.2d at 503–04 (1984)(quoting Shagloak v. State, 597 P.2d 142, 145 (Alaska 1979)); see also Patton., at 641 (4th Cir. 1967)(quoting Note, Unconstitutional Conditions, 73 Harv.L.Rev. 1595, 1599-1600 (1960)("Denying a benefit because of the exercise of a right in effect penalizes that exercise, making it tantamount to a crime. Punishing constitutionally protected activities seems clearly a violation of substantive due process.").

Examined with an understanding of the importance of due process in safeguarding the rule of law and the rationale behind West Virginia's blanket prohibition on harsher penalties for a reconviction following a successful appeal, there can be no doubt that the Second Sentencing Order must be reversed.

It has already been determined that Petitioner was denied the right to a fair trial prior to his original conviction. *Varlas*, 237 W.Va. at 408, 787 S.E.2d at 679. He was precluded from introducing substantial evidence "critical" to his defense. *Id*. 237 W.Va. at 401, 787 S.E.2d at 672. The fact that Petitioner was later found guilty on the same charges does not inject fairness into the first trial. If this Court had allowed the initial conviction to stand, then the rule of law would have been forsaken.

Fortunately, this Court recognized that fact and afforded Petitioner the right initially denied him by the trial court. *Id.* Yet, had Petitioner known that by exercising his constitutional right to appeal the conviction to receive the fair trial he was entitled to he would be risking an additional ten (10) to twenty-five (25) years of incarceration, Petitioner, in all probability, would have sacrificed his right to a fair trial. The decision to sacrifice his constitutional right would have been made solely out of fear of receiving a harsher penalty on retrial. This barter of his Constitutional rights in exchange for conditional freedom is the exact scenario that *Eden* expressly prohibited.

The fact that Petitioner appealed his initial conviction in no way suggests that Petitioner was not denied due process in this case. The only reason Petitioner was not deterred from exercising his right to an appeal is because he understood (correctly) that he could not be given a harsher penalty than he originally received. In this instance, the Circuit Court's supposed ability to impose a harsher penalty in the form of revoking the Court's "grace" was concealed until after his decision to appeal was made, making the violation of due process even more egregious. "Perhaps the most basic of due process's customary protections is the demand of fair notice" and "[r]udimentary justice requires that those subject to the law must have the means of knowing what it prescribes." Sessions v. Dimaya, 138 S. Ct. 1204, 1225, 200 L. Ed. 2d 549 (2018)(J. Gorsuch concurring in part and concurring in judgment); Antonin Scalia, The Rule of Law As A Law of Rules, 56 U. Chi. L. Rev. 1175, 1179 (1989).

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