DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

FILE COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA, Respondent,

MAY 2 0 2019

Appeal No. 19-0005

NICHOLAS VARLAS,

v.

Petitioner.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA

Appeal from a December 4, 2018 Sentencing Order Circuit Court of Brooke County Case No. 13-F-63

PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

Caleb A. Ellis [WVSB No. 13337] Assistant Attorney General Office of the Attorney General Appellate Division 812 Quarrier Street, 6th Floor Charleston, WV 25301 Telephone: (304) 558-5830 Facsimile: (304) 558-5833

Email: Caleb.A.Ellis@wvago.gov

Counsel for Respondent

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

#### III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner's sole assignment of error is that the Circuit Court violated his due process rights by sentencing him to a harsher sentence on the same offenses after he was convicted for a second time following his successful appeal. This Court should find that this argument is meritless, because the Circuit Court correctly determined that Petitioner was not given a harsher sentence after his retrial, because probation is not a criminal sentence. After his first trial, Petitioner was sentenced to a term of one to three years of incarceration and a term of ten to twenty-five years of incarceration, to be served consecutively. Petitioner was given the same sentence after his retrial and subsequent conviction, except that the terms were ordered to run concurrently. That the Circuit Court suspended execution of Petitioner's ten to twenty-five year term and ordered that he be placed on probation is irrelevant to the inquiry as to whether the second sentence was harsher, as it is not a sentence for a crime.

Additionally, even if this Court finds that the Circuit Court sentenced Petitioner to a harsher sentence by not granting probation after his retrial, it should affirm the Circuit Court's sentencing order. This Court's prior holding that an increase in sentencing after retrial is a due process violation was predicated on federal caselaw which has since been significantly curtailed. The concern of judicial vindictiveness is not implicated in this case, because Petitioner's second trial and sentencing were before a different judge than the first trial. Additionally, the United States Supreme Court has recognized that the speculative possibility of a higher sentence upon retrial is not a significant deterrent to the right to appeal and does not give rise to a constitutional violation.

#### IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Pursuant to West Virginia Revised Rules of Appellate Procedure 18(a)(3) and (4), to the extent the Court decides this case on the grounds relied on by the Circuit Court, oral argument is unnecessary because the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and the record, and this case is appropriate for resolution by memorandum decision. To the extent this Court reaches the question of the continued viability of *State v. Eden*, Rule 20 argument would be appropriate.

#### V. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of Review

"This Court reviews the circuit court's final order and ultimate disposition under an abuse of discretion standard. We review challenges to findings of fact under a clearly erroneous standard; conclusions of law are reviewed *de novo*." Syl. Pt. 4, *Burgess v. Porterfield*, 196 W. Va. 178, 179, 469 S.E.2d 114, 115 (1996). This appeal addresses a legal issue and this Court's review should be *de novo*.

#### B. State v. Eden is Not Implicated in this Case Because Probation is Not a Sentence for a Crime.

Petitioner's lone assignment of error asserts that the Circuit Court committed legal error in determining that his due process rights were not violated by its decision not to grant him probation after his retrial. (Pet'r's Br. at 6.) Petitioner argues that ten to twenty-five years "is a harsher penalty than his original sentence of five (5) years' probation." (Pet'r's Br. at 6.)

Petitioner's argument on this point misstates the issue. The Circuit Court did not decide that a sentence of ten to twenty-five years of incarceration was not harsher than a term of five years of probation; rather, it found that for the purpose of comparing the magnitude of his two sentences, it must only consider the criminal sentence imposed. (App. at 586-90.) As the Circuit Court noted, after his first trial, Petitioner was sentenced to a term of one to three years of incarceration and a consecutive term of ten to twenty-five years of incarceration. (App. at 583-84.) After his retrial, the Court imposed the same terms, but order that the two terms run concurrently. (App. at 589-90.) The Circuit Court found that this sentence was actually less severe than his prior sentence, (App. at 590), because the terms were ordered to run concurrently rather than consecutively; because the second sentence was not harsher, *Eden* had no application.

As noted, this Court has already addressed the applicability of *State v. Eden* in the context of suspended sentences in *State v. Workman*, No. 13-0133, 2013 WL 6183989 (W. Va. Nov. 26, 2013) (memorandum decision). In *Workman*, the petitioner was found guilty of domestic battery in magistrate court and sentenced to one year in jail; the Court then suspended his sentence and imposed one year of unsupervised probation. *See Workman*, No. 13-0133, 2013 WL 6183989, at *1. The petitioner appealed, and after a *de novo* bench trial, the Circuit Court found him guilty of domestic battery and sentenced him to one year in jail; the Circuit Court suspended the jail sentence and imposed one year of supervised probation. *See id.* The petitioner appealed the Circuit Court's decision, asserting that it violated *Eden* because the supervised probation imposed by the Circuit Court on appeal was harsher than the unsupervised probation imposed by the magistrate court. *See id.* at *2.

Relying on its long-standing precedent that "[p]robation is not a sentence for a crime but instead is an act of grace upon the part of the State to a person who has been convicted of a crime," this Court found that *Eden* was not implicated by probation terms instituted in lieu of suspended sentences. *Workman*, No. 13-0133, 2013 WL 6183989, at *2 (quoting Syl. Pt. 2, *State ex rel. Strickland v. Melton*, 152 W. Va. 500, 165 S.E.2d 90, 91 (1968)). Instead, the Court considered only the legal sentence imposed by each lower court: observing that each court "sentenced petitioner to one year in jail for the offense of domestic battery," this Court found that "it is clear that petitioner did not receive a harsher sentence on appeal." *Workman*, No. 13-0133, 2013 WL 6183989, at *2

Petitioner asserts that Workman has no precedential value and that this Court should simply ignore it. He then also claims that it was incorrect, and that the Eden analysis should consider grants of probation in assessing the magnitude of a sentence. Petitioner is incorrect; this Court

should affirm the Circuit Court's decision, both because Workman is an opinion of this Court with precedential value which already decided this exact legal issue, and because the principles it relies on are longstanding and compel the same result.

#### This Court's Decision in Workman is Legal Precedent.

Petitioner seeks to avoid the straightforward application of *Workman* and the well-settled principle it relies on by attacking the precedential value of *Workman* itself. (Pet'r's Br. at 17.) According to Petitioner, *Workman* is an "unpublished opinion" and this Court "should not be persuaded by a decision deemed unsuitable for official publication." (Pet'r's Br. 17.) Petitioner invokes this Court's holding that "[u]npublished opinions of this Court are of no precedential value and for this reason may not be cited in any court of this state as precedent or authority, except to support a claim of *res judicata*, collateral estoppel, or law of the case," Syl. Pt. 3, *Pugh v. Workers' Comp. Com'r*, 188 W. Va. 414, 424 S.E.2d 759, 759–60 (1992), for the proposition that the Circuit Court actually erred in relying on *Workman*. (Pet'r's Br. at 17.)

The State acknowledges, as it must, that *Workman* is technically unpublished, and that it is a memorandum decision rather than a signed opinion. *See generally Workman*, No. 13-0133, 2013 WL 6183989. However, this Court has held that "memorandum decisions may be cited as legal authority, and are legal precedent." Syl. Pt. 5, in part, *State v. McKinley*, 234 W. Va. 143, 764 S.E.2d 303, 306 (2014). Of course, "their value as precedent is necessarily more limited[, and] where a conflict exists between a published opinion and a memorandum decision, the published opinion controls." *Id.* Since *McKinley*, this Court has taken the opportunity to explicitly "reaffirm the precedential value of our memorandum decisions." *In re T.O.*, 238 W. Va. 455, 463, 796 S.E.2d 564, 572 (2017).

This Court explained in McKinley that memorandum decisions were adopted by the 2010 amendments to the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure to accommodate this Court's

transition in from a system of appeals by permission to appeals by right. See McKinley, 234 W. Va. 143, 151, 764 S.E.2d 303, 311 (2014). Though the McKinley Court did not explicitly overrule Pugh, it is clear that Pugh's bar on citation to unpublished opinions is not controlling law as to memorandum decisions. Indeed, in finding that unpublished opinions have no precedential value, the Pugh Court relied on the fact that "such opinions are not generally made available to members of the public." Pugh, 188 W. Va. at 417, 424 S.E.2d at 762. This Court has made clear that this is no longer a concern, as "[o]ur memorandum decisions, like our signed opinions, are readily available on the Court's website at www.courtswv.gov, as well as through the databases of legal research providers, such as Westlaw and LexisNexis." In re T.O., 238 W. Va. at 463, 796 S.E.2d at 572.

Thus, Petitioner is mistaken in his assertion that this Court should ignore Workman. While Workman's precedential value would obviously yield to a contrary signed opinion, no such opinion exists. Workman is this Court's most definitive application of its settled principle that probation is not a criminal sentence to a challenge under State v. Eden. As Petitioner argues the same principle this Court rejected in Workman—that probation is a part of a criminal sentence for the purpose of determining the relative harshness of two sentences—this Court should follow Workman and affirm the Circuit Court.

 Probation is Not Part of a Criminal Sentence in West Virginia and Should Not Be Considered in Determining Whether Petitioner's Sentence was Harsher After Retrial.

Petitioner also asserts that the reasoning relied on in *Workman*—that probation is not part of criminal sentence—is incorrect. (Pet'r's Br. at 17-19.) As he sees it, "probation is part and parcel of the sentence." (Pet'r's Br. at 19.) Petitioner's argument is incorrect, as it is well-established under West Virginia law that probation is not part of a criminal sentence.

In West Virginia, the power of courts to place an offender on probation is controlled by the legislature. See Syl. Pt. 1, Spencer v. Whyte, 167 W. Va. 772, 280 S.E.2d 591 (1981) ("The right to probation was a legislative prerogative since courts did not possess the inherent power to grant probation."). The legislature granted that authority in West Virginia Code § 62-12-1, which provides that "[a]ny circuit court of this State shall have authority as provided in this article to place on probation any person convicted of a crime." W. Va. Code § 62-12-1. To exercise this authority, "upon the conviction of any person eligible for probation . . . the court, upon application or of its own motion, may suspend the imposition or execution of sentence and release the offender on probation for such period and upon such conditions as are provided by this article." W. Va. Code § 62-12-3. Clear from this language is the principle that probation is inherently separate from the sentence imposed for a conviction, as a person can only be placed on probation when the circuit court "suspend[s] imposition or execution of sentence." W. Va. Code § 62-12-3.

As recognized in *Workman*, this Court has long explicitly recognized the principle inherent in the language of § 62-12-3: that "[p]robation is not a sentence for a crime but instead is an act of grace upon the part of the State to a person who has been convicted of a crime." Syl. Pt. 2, *State ex rel. Strickland v. Melton*, 152 W. Va. 500, 165 S.E.2d 90, 91 (1968). When placing a defendant on probation, where a court suspends imposition of sentence, the defendant still "could be sentenced" for his offenses if he violates the terms of probation, and where the court suspends execution, the defendant in fact "has been sentenced." Syl. Pt. 4, in part, *State v. Duke*, 200 W. Va. 356, 489 S.E.2d 738, 741 (1997). When a court properly revokes probation based on violations of its conditions, it can then impose sentence for the first time if imposition was suspended, or order the already imposed sentence to be executed if execution was suspended. *See* W. Va. Code § 62-12-10 (a).

Petitioner seeks to distinguish this Court's prior cases treating probation as separate from the sentence by noting that none—other than *Workman*—addressed the resentencing of a defendant after a successful appeal and a subsequent conviction on retrial. (Pet'r's Br. at 17.) He contends that the *Workman* court took these long-standing principles out of context, and thus erred in finding *Eden* inapplicable. (Pet'r's Br. at 17-18.) While Petitioner is correct that the cases relied on in *Workman* never dealt with the retrial and resentencing issue, he errs in his assertion that they "in no way stand for the proposition that probation is not a form [of] punishment for a crime." (Pet'r's Br. at 18.)

In Jett v. Leverette, this Court addressed a petitioner's contention that, after having his probation revoked and his underlying sentence imposed, it was a violation of the Double Jeopardy Clause of the West Virginia Constitution's prohibition on multiple punishments for the same offense. Jett v. Leverette, 162 W. Va. 140, 141 n.1, 247 S.E.2d 469, 470 n.1 (1978). The petitioner relied principally on the Court's prior recognition that time spent on parole must be credited against the underlying sentence. See id. at 141, 247 S.E.2d at 470. This Court distinguished between probation and parole, holding "that there are fundamental statutory differences between probation and parole in the relationship they bear to the underlying criminal sentence. The term of probation has no correlation to the underlying criminal sentence, while parole is directly tied to it." Jett, 162 W. Va. at Syl. Pt. 1, 247 S.E.2d at 469. The Court ultimately rejected Petitioner's claim that his probation term and underlying sentence were multiple punishments for the same offense, holding that "[t]he separation of the probation term from the underlying criminal sentence, coupled with the significant statutory differences between probation and parole, warrants the finding that our State's Double Jeopardy Clause is not violated by the failure to credit the time spent on probation upon its revocation." Jett, 162 W. Va. at Syl. Pt. 2, 247 S.E.2d at 469; see also Hall v. Bostic, 529

F.2d 990, 992 (4th Cir. 1975) ("Nor is the refusal to credit probation time against the prison sentence double jeopardy.").

Petitioner contends that "[t]he unaltered holding in *Jett* provides no support to a finding that probation is not part of a criminal sentence." (Pet'r's Br. at 18.) This is simply an incorrect reading of the case; were it true, as Petitioner suggests, that probation is "imposed as part of a punishment for a crime" and "part and parcel of the sentence," (Pet'r's Br. at 19), it is difficult to see how it would not be a double jeopardy violation for a Court not to credit time spent on probation against the underlying sentence. Indeed, far from being distinguishable as Petitioner suggests, *Jett* recognizes the exact principle *Workman* relied on—that a probation term is distinct from the criminal sentence.

Jett also demonstrates the error in Petitioner's attempt to analogize parole eligibility with probation for the purposes of an Eden analysis. Petitioner points to State v. Frazier, a memorandum decision in which this Court found that Eden was violated when—after the defendant successfully challenged his conviction for second degree murder—on retrial a finding that the petitioner used a firearm in the offense led to his being eligible for parole after serving one third, rather than one fourth of his sentence. State v. Frazier, No. 13-1122, 2014 WL 5529734, at *4 (W. Va. Oct. 30, 2014) (memorandum decision). Noting that "[b]ecause parole is a means of shortening a sentence, the restriction thereof necessarily operates as a form of punishment," the Court found that this was an impermissible increase in sentence. Frazier, No. 13-1122, 2014 WL 5529734, at *4 (quoting State v. Sears, 196 W. Va. 71, 78, 468 S.E.2d 324, 331 (1996)). As discussed, however, Jett makes clear that probation and parole are fundamentally different in that "[t]he term of probation has no correlation to the underlying criminal sentence, while parole is

directly tied to it." Jett, 162 W. Va. at Syl. Pt. 1, 247 S.E.2d at 469. Thus, Frazier does not mandate that this Court find Eden applicable to probation.

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